1963

# James Manufacturing Co. v. E. J. Wilson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an action against a buyer for recovery of the purchase price of goods purchased from the plaintiff, wherein defendant answered and admitted purchase of the goods, but in addition counterclaimed for alleged breach of both express and implied warranties.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury. From a verdict and judgment awarding plaintiff reasonable attorney's fees and

awarding defendant damages upon his counterclaim, plaintiff appeals.

### **RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL**

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the judgment on the counterclaim and judgment in its favor as a matter of law, or that failing, a new trial.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

E. I. Wilson, at the time this action was initiated and for many years prior thereto, was a resident of Nephi, Juab County, Utah. Mr. Wilson had been in the turkey business approximately twelve years in December of 1957. During that time he had raised from 50,000 to 170,000 turkeys a year.

In the fall of 1957, Mr. Wilson designed a turkey brooder coop that would be approximately 400 to 450 feet long by 40 feet wide. He wanted a coop that was large enough to handle 25,000 to 30,000 poults. In the fall of that year, approximately November or December, there was a turkey show held in Salt Lake City. All the manufacturers of turkey equipment sent a manufacturer's representative and framed displays of their products. James Manufacturing Company had a display of turkey feeder units and ventilator systems. Mr. Ray Tuttle was the factory representative. Mr. Wilson had occasion to see the exhibit of James Manufacturing Company and was especially interested in the ventilating system and feeder units. As a result of this exhibit, he contacted Mr. Tuttle in Mr. Tuttle's motel in Salt Lake City. Mr. Wilson explained what he anticipated in the way of construction and what his needs would be. He also stated that he had seen

a sample of the auger feeding unit, (which is the subject of this lawsuit), in operation at the exhibit and thought that it would serve his purposes. He and Mr. Tuttle sat down at the desk and discussed the ventilator system and drew some rough sketches, which Mr. Wilson took with him.

From 1952 to 1958 Mr. Wilson dealt with Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative. Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative was a dealer for James Manufacturing Company and sold products under the trade name of James Manufacturing Company, to-wit: "Jamesway." Mr. Wilson, both before and after the purchase of the equipment, which is the subject of this suit, bought Jamesway equipment from Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative.

On January 8, 1958, Mr. Wilson arranged to purchase from Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative eight 26 inch ceiling fans with thermostats and K-D Stimaline ventilators. This purchase was signed on January 8, 1958, under a purchase order and contract of Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative (Exhibit P.15). Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative took their usual markup and placed the order for this equipment with James Manufacturing Company. The equipment was delivered to E. I. Wilson at Nephi, Utah, from the warehouse and office of Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative in Nephi, Utah, on Utah Poultry Company trucks.

Later on February 21, 1958, Mr. Wilson met in the office of Utah Poultry Company with Mr. Tuttle, Mr. Arza Adams, an officer and director of Utah Poultry, a Mr. Hopkinson, the purchasing agent for Utah Poultry, and a Mr. Woods, who was sales manager for Utah Poultry. At that time a conversation was had concerning the purchase of



these feeder units and whether they would be satisfactory for young poults because of the size of the troughs. Mr. Adams and Mr. Tuttle informed Mr. Wilson that they thought the trough was too large and that this equipment would not be suitable for young poults and Mr. Wilson felt that he could build a ramp up to the trough and that it would be satisfactory. Mr. Wilson denied this conversation and claims that it never took place, however, Mr. Tuttle, Mr. Adamson and Mr. Adams all testified to the circumstance and conversation. In any event on February 21, 1958, Mr. Wilson placed an order for 800 feet of auger turkey feeders with the Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative. This order was placed upon the contract form of Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative (Exhibit P.15—second page). Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative ordered the units from Jamesway and they were delivered through Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative to E. I. Wilson. It is the contention of Mr. E. I. Wilson that Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative was merely the financing agent of E. I. Wilson and that the sales were actually made by James Manufacturing Company.

Mr. Wilson built the turkey brooder coop and installed the ventilator system himself. Prior to the first brood turkeys arriving from the hatchery, Mr. Wilson started the installation of the turkey feeder units. This he was doing himself. The turkeys arrived at a time when one-half of the turkey feeder units, to-wit: 400 feet, had been installed on the south side of the coop. The other 400 feet for the north side was never installed. These turkey feeder units did not work to the satisfaction of Mr. Wilson. He called James Manufacturing Company at Los Angeles and requested their assistance in the installation of the turkey

feeder units and they sent Mr. Persig, an engineer, and helpers from Los Angeles to help correct the defect that Mr. Wilson was complaining of. His complaint was that the auger would not convey the feed more than fifty feet from the hopper when, in fact, to operate effectively it had to convey it 400 feet through the trough. Mr. Tuttle testified that before the engineer and crew left they had the auger working satisfactorily and conveying feed 400 feet. Mr. Wilson denied that they ever got it operating effectively and testified that they left before it was operating to his satisfaction.

Mr. Wilson testified that he found that the feeder unit would not satisfactorily feed young poults, that they would fall in the trough and could not get out, and that the feed could not be conveyed effectively the 400 feet and for that reason he removed the feeder units then installed, did not install the other 400 feet, and took the feeder units and re-installed them in 200 feet sections in his yard for the use of his range turkeys of a larger size. Mr. Tuttle testified that the reason they were removed was that they were never designed for young poults and that Mr. Wilson discovered soon after he had attempted to operate one of them that the trough was too large for young poults and that they could not reach from the outside without placement of two by four planking along the outside for them to stand on and that they would fall in the trough and could not get out and that he had been so advised before he purchased the feeder units. In any event, the feeder units were re-installed by Mr. Wilson in his yard and used by him to the present time in his range yard.

Mr. Wilson replaced the auger feeder units in the coop

with overhead feeder units manufactured by the Steve Regan Company.

After Mr. Wilson discovered the alleged defect in the auger feeder units, he was contacted by Mr. Ray Tuttle, the manufacturer's representative for James Manufacturing Company, at his turkey ranch in Nephi, Utah. This was on or about March 10, 1958. At this time no complaint or mention of the defects in either the ventilator system or the turkey feeder units was made to Mr. Tuttle. Mr. Wilson, on the contrary, wanted to purchase seventy-five 10 foot turkey feeders of a range type. These are barrel type units with trays on the bottom that are placed in the open range for turkeys approaching maturity. Mr. Wilson asked Mr. Tuttle if James Manufacturing Company would sell these units to him direct and finance the units for him. Mr. Tuttle contacted his employer by phone and got the authorization and sold these seventy-five turkey feeders directly to Mr. Wilson for \$5,250.00 on a contract (Exhibit D-10). Mr. Wilson did not pay for the seventy-five turkey feeders. The plaintiff, by numerous letters, attempted to get its financing contracts signed and paid. See Exhibits P-1 dated April 8, 1958; P-2 dated April 22, 1958; P-3 dated May 28, 1958; defendant's letter to plaintiff P-4 dated October 2, 1958; P-5 dated November 5, 1958; P-6 dated December 9, 1958; P-7 dated January 29, 1959. Mr. Wilson, instead of paying the contracts, requested refinancing which was granted on two different occasions (Exhibits P-5, P-14).

After no results were received from the above letters, Mr. Mark Adamson, Jamesway's Utah territory man, obtained a refinancing note and contract (Exhibit P.14) from Mr. Wilson after contacting him personally in Nephi. The original contract called for payments as follows: Exhibit

D-10) \$1,000.00 June 15, 1958; \$1,000.00 September 15, 1958; \$3,250.00 March 15, 1959. These payments were adjusted on February 18, 1959 (Exhibit P.14) to provide for payments as follows; \$1,000.00 on March 15, 1959; \$1,000.00 June 15, 1959; and \$3,250.00 on September 15, 1959. Mr. Adamson testified no protest or complaint was made to him at the time of the execution of the refinancing contract. Neither did he, in any of his letters up to the letter of March 16, 1959, (Exhibit P-8) make any complaint nor did he request any off-set or discount because of alleged defects in the ventilator system or the auger feeder units. The James Manufacturing Company did, however, at Mr. Wilson's request, extend the payment one year.

Eventually, in June of 1959, after no payments had been made, the plaintiff requested payment or the return of the merchandise, and Mr. Wilson refused and the plaintiff instituted this action to repossess the turkey feeders. Upon filing the action the plaintiff repossessed the equipment on a writ of replevin and resold it, and the defendant filed a counterclaim asking for damages because of alleged defects and breach of warranties in the sale of the eight 26 inch ceiling fans with K-D Stimaline ventilators, and in the automatic feeders, auger type. The plaintiff contends that neither items were sold by it, but were sold, in fact, by Utah Poultry and Farmers Co-operative and that there was not, in fact, any breach of warranty under either item.

Testimony was elicited concerning the number of turkeys that died from the period 1958 through 1959 and testimony was obtained from Dr. Royal A. Bagley, a veterinarian who was on call by Mr. Wilson during this period, that the turkeys died from various causes of an epidemic pro-

portion, such as paratyphoid, sulfaquinoxaline poisoning (over-medication), air sack lesion, vent picking, cholera, Newcastle Disease, cerebral hemorage, cannabilism, blue coomb ( a virus infection), and many other causes that would not be related to drafts or ventilating. Mr. Wilson put on testimony concerning drafts and temperature variations that, in his opinion, caused the death of the turkeys. This fact situation is mentioned only insofar as it affects the plaintiff's motion for a new trial based upon newly discovered testimony. There was no dispute on the plaintiff's complaint except as to the amount of attorneys fee and the case was tried on the defendant's counterclaim.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE COURT ERRED IN ORDERING THE JURY TRIAL OVER THE OBJECTION OF THE PLAINTIFF.

The record will disclose that a demand for trial was made by the plaintiff. The demand for trial was on a standard form and requested a non-jury trial (R. 113). Both plaintiff and defendant appeared at the pretrial conference at 10:00 A. M. on the 27th day of August, 1962. At that time the plaintiff appeared by and through Jackson B. Howard and the defendant appeared by and through W. Eugene Hansen. Matters were set down in the pretrial order and the Court instructed the plaintiff to prepare the pretrial order. The pretrial order was prepared in conformity to the Court's instruction and the matter was set for trial without a jury and the estimate of time of trial was two days based upon a non-jury setting. The date of the said trial was to commence on the 30th day of October,

1962. On the late afternoon of October 24, 1962, counsel for the plaintiff called counsel for the defendant to discuss the stipuations that might be entered into in order to expedite the trial. At that time the defendant informed the plaintiff that it was his belief that the trial would be a jury trial. Counsel for the plaintiff informed counsel for the defendant he was not prepared for such a trial and that he would contact the Court concerning it. Because of Court commitments in Richfield on the 25th, the plaintiff had no opportunity to review the file or consult with the Court until the 26th of October, at which time plaintiff talked to the Court by phone concerning the jury trial. The file discloses that the only request for jury trial was in a letter from the defendant's attorney dated September 11, 1962, addressed to the Honorable C. Nelson Day, Judge, Fifth Judicial District, Manti, Utah, a carbon copy of which was sent to the office of the plaintiff's attorney. That letter is not part of the record but is set out as follows:

"September 11, 1962

Honorable C. Nelson Day, Judge  
Fifth Judicial District  
Manti, Utah

Re: James Manufacturing vs. Ernest Wilson  
Civil No. 3937

Dear Judge Day:

I recently received a copy of the Pretrial Order. I had expected that Jackson would mail a copy to us for approval before it was signed ;however, I note he submitted it directly to the Court for signature.

I had written Jackson before receiving the Pre-trial Order indicating that Arthur had an additional issue he wanted included in the Order concerning the sale of the turkey feeders as set forth in Plaintiff's Complaint. The issue being whether or not they obtained the reasonable value of the feeders on their repossession sale.

Arthur is in Washington, D.C. at the present time and I hesitate filing a motion and setting it up for argument on a point which is relatively minor until such time as he returns and either works out the matter upon stipulation with Jackson or personally decides to notice it up for hearing.

I am therefore sending this letter in hopes that this one phase of the Pretrial Order might remain open until Arthurs return. I also mailed a check to the Clerk yesterday to cover the jury fees in the case since it was requested by the client.

Sincerely yours,

W. Eugene Hansen

WEH:bt

cc: Jackson Howard, Attorney"

The very last paragraph is the only reference to a jury trial setting ever made by the defendant and it is merely a statement that "I mailed a check to the Clerk yesterday to cover the jury fee in the case since it was requested by the client." Although it is not a tribute to counsel for the plaintiff, nevertheless, this particular sentence was overlooked inasmuch as the substance of the letter was that

Mr. Nielsen would be back from Washington and would be in contact with the Court and counsel for the plaintiff when he returned. Based upon the assumption that the trial would not be of a jury nature, counsel did not have an opportunity to review the panel, could not determine the background of the jurors and was prohibited from obtaining a new panel under provision 78-46-23. The Court advised counsel for the plaintiff on October 26th that he was going to order the Clerk to secure a jury. October 26, 1962, was the Friday prior to trial, which was Tuesday, October 30th. Under the circumstances, the plaintiff was denied an opportunity to properly analyze the jury panel and, consequently, was forced to select a jury at a considerable handicap. Plaintiff was also prevented from requesting a postponement of trial because subpoenas had been sent to numerous witnesses, witness fees paid, and one witness was enroute from Los Angeles.

It is the contention of the plaintiff that the Court should have refused to grant a jury trial. The plaintiff contends that no proper demand for a jury trial was made in accordance with law. Article I, Section 2, of the Utah Constitution states "a jury in civil cases shall be waived unless demanded." Rule 38 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that a jury trial can be obtained by demand and defines what demand is under the Constitution. Rule 38(b) states:

"b. Demand. Any party may demand a trial by jury of any issue triable of right by jury by paying the statutory jury fee and serving upon the other parties a demand therefor in writing at any time after the commencement of the action and not later than shall be fixed by rule of the court in which the action is



pending. Such demand may be endorsed upon a pleading of the party."

No demand was made in conformity with Rule 38(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and the defendant does not contend that one was. The Fifth Judicial District Court apparently has no rule governing this procedure. Inquiry was made both of the Court and the Clerk concerning the rule fixed by the Court concerning such demand and none was available and the Court informed the plaintiff's counsel that it had not established rules. Under these circumstances, it is respectfully urged that to compel the plaintiff to submit to a jury trial on a notice as late as October 26, 1962, was prejudicial and an infringement of its rights.

## POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING ALL WITNESSES FOR THE PLAINTIFF AND DENYING THE PLAINTIFF A RIGHT TO HAVE ITS COUNSEL ASSISTED BY ANY WITNESSES FOR A SUBSTANTIAL PART OF THE TRIAL.

The record will disclose that the case was called for trial on Tuesday, October 30, 1962, at the hour of 10:00 A.M. The first order of business, after hearing the motions of the plaintiff to strike the jury trial, was the selection of the jury. After the jury was selected and prior to argument of counsel, plaintiff invoked the exclusion rule (Tr. P.3,L.17). This motion was made at approximately 1:30 P.M., prior to defendant's opening statement to the jury. Each party indicated who their witnesses were to be and the witnesses were sworn, however, at that stage

Mr. Nielsen, Attorney for the defendant, argued to the Court that plaintiff was not entitled to have anyone assist counsel if it invoked the rule because the plaintiff was a corporate entity. It was Mr. Nielsen's contention that a corporate entity can only be represented by its principal officers and that counsel for a corporate entity can retain with him as an assistant during the course of the trial only a corporate officer who stands in the stead of the corporate entity. This was contrary to the plaintiff's view of the case and plaintiff elected to stand by its motion to exclude witnesses.

On the basis of the arguments which were strenuous and heated and cover pages 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 of the transcript, the Court ruled that Mr. Tuttle, the witness chosen by the plaintiff to assist counsel, would be excluded. From that period of time, approximately 1:30 P.M., until late in the afternoon of the first day of trial, October 30, 1962, the plaintiff was compelled to conduct the trial of the matter without the assistance of its key witness, while the defendant was allowed to remain in the courtroom all during the course of the arguments and trial.

On the conclusion of the defendant's opening statement, during which time all of the witnesses for the plaintiff, including Mr. Tuttle, were absent from the courtroom, the plaintiff again reiterated its motion and objection to the Court's sequestration of its witnesses (Tr. P.8, L. 30 and P.10, L. 20):

"MR. HOWARD: May it please the Court and jury, we would prefer to reserve our argument until the defendant is through with their case in chief. Now, your Honor, I am reluctant to press an issue the Court has ruled upon because I believe it is a matter of prejudicial error. I think

it is important to inform the Court that unless my client is allowed to be represented by a representative they are deprived of their rights because the law says that a party may attend the Court; and the rule does not apply to a party. Now, if Mr. Nielson's argument is sound, the only person who could be a party in a corporate action would be the president, probably, or some officer. Now, if you get the situation were you have a corporate party, that corporate party may be present by any representative it chooses to have present, and the attorney for the plaintiff is me; and I elect to have Mr. Tuttle here. Otherwise, my client is deprived of the right to be present at this trial even though the defendant who is a party is present, which is a gross lack of neutrality in the trial of this case. Otherwise, the corporate client cannot be present because a corporation is an artificial being, there's no personage, there's no party except insofar as it is represented by representatives.

So I say Mr. Tuttle is their representative, He's the one that has knowledge of this situation. He's the one they have selected to be present. He's the one who must be present. You take a corporation like United States Steel, the president and officers have no dealings generally with any of the transactions. They could never be present in Court except by counsel.

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