1963

# James Manufacturing Co. v. E. J. Wilson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

ALLEGED ERROR IN ORDERING A JURY TRIAL OVER OBJECTION OF PLAINTIFF.

Appellant in its brief states that it requested a non-jury trial, and refers to its Notice of Readiness as evidence thereof. While this writer has not seen the original Notice which was filed (it is apparently not with the record in the Supreme Court), he has seen the copy which was served upon him as counsel for Respondent, and that form does not show that either a jury or a non-jury trial is requested. In fact, that particular line is left blank so that both the words "non" and "jury" appear before the word "trial."

While counsel for Appellant now claims that he was prejudiced by a jury trial, he points to nothing in the record which would so indicate nor does he show that he was unable to prepare for trial before a jury. Actually he should have been aware of the fact that the case was to be tried before a jury on or about September 11 when he received a copy of the letter sent to the trial judge referring to the fact that the jury fee had been paid. He admits he became aware of it on October 24, six days before the trial. Thereafter, the Court further advised counsel for Appellant that if he felt he would be unable to be ready for trial by October 30, the trial could be continued in order to give him more time adequately to prepare. At that time Appellant's position was that Respondent was not entitled to a jury trial because no proper demand had been made and not because of any inconvenience or hardship.

This Court has on several occasions had before it the question of whether a jury trial should be allowed where no proper demand has been made; and in each

instance it has held that the granting or denial of a jury trial is within the discretion of the trial court.

In the case of *Wood vs. R. G. W. Ry. Co.*, 28 U 351, 79 P 182, the Court held that the granting of a jury trial when no proper demand had been made was discretionary with the trial court. We quote:

“We are of the opinion that the court below possessed discretionary authority to direct a trial by jury notwithstanding the parties to the suit may have waived the same.”

In the case of *Davis vs. D. & R. G. Ry. Co.*, 45 U 11, 142 P 705, the Court held:

“Finally it is contended that the court erred in permitting a jury to be called to try the case for the reason that the jury fee was not paid until a few minutes before the case was called for trial. Our constitution (article 1, 10) provides: ‘A jury in civil cases shall be waived unless demanded.’ Comp. Laws 1907, 3129, among other things, provides that a jury must be demanded in writing ‘prior to the time of setting such action for trial, or within such reasonable time thereafter as the court may order, or orally in open court at the time of such setting,’ and the party demanding a jury ‘must at the same time deposit with the clerk the sum of \$5.00, whereupon it shall be the duty of the court to order jurors to be in attendance at the time set for the trial of the cause.’ In this case a jury was properly demanded, but the fee was not paid except as above stated. *The purpose of the demand, as appears from the foregoing statute, is to enable the court to have a jury in attendance when the case comes on for trial.* We think that where a jury is in fact present so that the trial may forthwith proceed

without delay, the adverse party cannot successfully interpose the objection that the jury has not been demanded or the jury fee paid in the precise manner and at the precise time prescribed by the statute. *The provisions in the statute are not intended for the benefit of an adversary.* No doubt if the demand and payment are not made as required by the statute the party has waived his right to require the court to call a jury, but we cannot see how the adverse party can complain if the court, in its discretion, permits a jury to try the case if one is in fact in attendance and no delay is occasioned in proceeding with the case. In our judgment, where a jury is in attendance the court may permit a party to pay the jury fee at any time before a trial, and may impanel a jury to try the case. In principle we see no difference between the case at bar and Ogden Valley, etc., Co. v. Lewis, 125 Pac. 687, where we held the question of calling a jury, where the right to demand one has been waived, to be largely within the discretion of the court, and that the calling of a jury by the court to try a case where a jury has been waived is not error." (Emphasis added.)

Appellant cites no authority in support of its claim, but counsel does state that he was "prohibited from obtaining a new panel under provision 78-46-23." There can be no justification for this statement, because under the provisions of Section 78-46-23, U.C.A. 1953 any person may obtain a new jury venire by paying the fee prescribed by the statute not later than the day preceding the trial. In the instant case Appellant had five days after receiving actual notice of the fact that the case was to be tried to a jury in which to determine whether it was satisfied with the regular panel or whether to ask for a special venire.

As the trial court advised Appellant's counsel, there being no rule in the 5th Judicial District fixing any time in which a Demand for a Jury Trial must be made, the Court had as a practice granted a jury trial when requested at any time prior to the date set for the trial.

## POINT II

### ALLEGED ERROR OF THE COURT IN EXCLUDING ONE OF PLAINTIFF'S WITNESSES FROM THE COURTROOM WHEN PLAINTIFF INVOKED THE EXCLUSION RULE.

Appellant contends that it was prejudiced by the Court excluding all of the witnesses from the Courtroom, including a witness which Appellant planned to use as its chief witness for a "substantial part of the trial". While it is true that the Court, *upon Appellant's request*, did exclude all witnesses, including Ray Tuttle, a sales representative for Appellant Company, who had most of the negotiations and conversations with Respondent concerning the purchase of the equipment, it was not for a substantial part of the trial. The trial lasted four days during which Respondent was on the witness stand for approximately a day and a half. Mr. Tuttle was actually absent from the courtroom less than an hour during the early part of Mr. Wilson's testimony. The record before the Court discloses that the Court convened at 1:30 in the afternoon of October 30th after having impaneled the jury in the forenoon. (Tr. 2) At that time the motion to exclude the witnesses was made by Appellant's counsel and a considerable discussion took place between counsel and the Court concerning whether Mr. Tuttle should also be excluded if other witnesses were excused.

This involved some time as the record shows. (Tr. 2-8) Thereafter, counsel for Defendant made his opening statement which took up a substantial period of time so that Mr. Wilson had just begun to testify at the time of the afternoon recess. As a matter of fact, as stated by Appellant in its brief, objection was made to the testimony of Mr. Wilson with respect to his conversation with Mr. Tuttle because Mr. Tuttle was not in the courtroom and it was at this point that the Court took the afternoon recess. Upon convening after the recess, the Court allowed Mr. Tuttle to come into the courtroom over Respondent's objection, the Court stating:

“THE COURT: The record should show in that regard that pending the recess Mr. Howard has exhibited to the Court a Supreme Court case in the State of Utah which in substance and effect provides that the *Court within its discretion may permit a representative of the party to be in the Courtroom even though the exclusion rule has been invoked*; and Mr. Howard has chosen Mr. Ray Tuttle and therefore the Court in its discretion has permitted him to return to the Courtroom. And your objection is denied at this point.” (Tr. 12-13) (Emphasis added.)

As the trial court pointed out, in the case of *Xanakis vs. Garrett Freight Lines, Inc.*, 1 U2d 299, 265 P2d 100, this Court held that it is discretionary with the trial court whether a representative of the opposing party may remain the courtroom although he is not an officer and may be used as a witness. However, it is significant to point out that in the *Xanakis Case* the Plaintiff had invoked the exclusion rule; and the Defendant requested

the privilege of retaining one person in the courtroom. In the present instance, it was the Plaintiff who asked that the rule be invoked and at the same time claimed the right to an exception thereto. As stated in *53 Am. Jur. TRIALS*, Section 32, Page 47 :

“It has been said that where the rule regarding the exclusion of witnesses from the courtroom is invoked, unless some good reason is shown, all of the witnesses should be included.”

This is in keeping with the provisions of Rule 43(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides :

“Upon motion of either party, the court shall exclude from the courtroom any witness of the adverse party, not at the time under examination, so that he may not hear the testimony of the other witnesses.”

To the same effect is Section 78-7-4, *U.C.A. 1953*, which provides in part :

“In any cause the Court may, in its discretion, during the examination of a witness exclude any and all other witnesses in the cause.”

Appellant does not show any prejudice by the witness being absent from the courtroom. As a matter of fact, the testimony elicited from Respondent during the time that Ray Tuttle was absent from the courtroom was preliminary and did not relate to any matters which would have been of direct concern to Mr. Tuttle. However, if counsel for Appellant had been really concerned, he could have obtained a transcript of that testimony from the court reporter with very little expense.

### POINT III

#### ALLEGED ERROR OF THE COURT IN ADMITTING DEFENDANT'S EXHIBIT 8.

While Appellant's point is that the Court improperly admitted Defendant's Exhibit 8 over the objection of the Plaintiff, the discussion in the brief goes to the merits of the controversy and particularly to the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain this verdict. Unfortunately the testimony relating to this matter has not been transcribed and submitted to this Court as a part of the record. However, Respondent will present this matter under Point IV and limit the present discussion to the issue expressed in the heading, whether the trial court erred in admitting into evidence Defendant's Exhibit No. 8. While all of the evidence does not appear to have been transcribed with respect to this matter (Respondent's testimony on cross-examination as to when he located his copy of the letter and the circumstances surrounding its being written), the initial proceedings under which the Exhibit was offered and received do appear to be transcribed and before this Court. (See Tr. pp 37-42)

In his Interrogatories to the Plaintiff, Defendant requested the Plaintiff to answer any written correspondence had taken place between the parties in respect to the performance or use of the equipment or the alleged failure of such equipment to function properly, and asked that copies of all such correspondence whether sent or received be attached to the answer. (R. 11) In its Answers to such inquiry, Appellant stated that one

letter, dated October 2, 1958, was attachd and went on to say, "This does not purport to be all of the correspondence which Mr. Wilson may have engaged in with representatives of James Manufacturing Company. It does represent the only correspondence presently located at the home office." (Tr. 18)

Again at the trial Respondent called upon Appellant to produce the original copy of the letter which Respondent testified had been sent to it. Appellant did not do so and in fact did not at any time during the trial, which lasted for four days, ever attempt to explain why the original of the letter was not produced in court. Under such circumstances the Exhibit (a carbon copy of a letter sent to Appellant by Respondent) would have been admissible as secondary evidence of the contents of the original letter. See Sec. 78-25-16, U.C.A. 1953. However, this Court has previously adopted the view that a carbon copy of a document made in connection with the typing of the original thereof is of equal effect as the original copy and may be received in evidence without first establishing the whereabouts of the original copy.

In the case of *De Michele vs. Insurance Company*, 40 U 312, 120 P 846, this Court laid down the rule of law which has since been applied in this state in respect to the admissability of a carbon copy of a document:

"In *International Harvester Co. of America vs. Elfstrom*, 101 Minn. 263, 112 N. W. 252, 12 L.R.A. (N.S.) 343, 118 Am. St. Rep. 626, 11 Ann. Cas. 107, the rule that governs under such circumstances is stated in the headnote as follows:

“ ‘The different numbers or impressions of a writing produced by placing carbon paper between sheets of paper and writing upon the exposed surface are duplicate originals and either may be introduced in evidence without accounting for the nonproduction of the other.’

“A mere inspection of the proofs of loss kept by Mr. Davis, a duplicate of which had been served on Mr. Brummitt, discloses that it was what is commonly called a carbon copy and was thus a duplicate original within the rule stated by the Supreme Court of Minnesota in the Elfstrom Case just referred to. The precise question here involved was before the Missouri Court of Appeals in *Catron v. Ins. Co.*, 67 Mo. App. 544. In that case the copy of the proofs of loss that was retained by the insured was, over the objection of the company, admitted in evidence without serving notice upon the company to produce the one served upon it and without accounting for that one. The court held that the paper was properly admitted in evidence under the rule which applies to duplicate originals. To the same effect is the case of *Westbrook v. Fulton*, 79 Ala. 510. The district court, therefore, did not err in admitting in evidence respondent's proofs of loss.”

See also *American Surety Company vs. Blake*, 54 Idaho 1, 27 P2d 972, where the Court held that a carbon impression of a letter which was testified was mailed to the Plaintiff company was admissible without showing that a previous demand had been made upon the company to produce the original, quoting from two cases from other jurisdictions, as follows :

“In the case of *Martin & Lanier Paint Co. vs. Daniels*, 27 Ga. App. 302, 108 S. E. 246, the second paragraph of the syllabus reads: ‘Duplicate or carbon copies of letters made by the same pencil at the same time are not ‘copies’, but duplicate originals, and could be introduced in evidence without notice to produce.’ In the case of *Prescott, Wright, Snider Co. v. City of Cherryvale*, 134 Kan. 53 4 P.(2d) 457, 459, the court uses this language: ‘The carbon impression of the letter written on a typewriter made with the same stroke of the keys as was done here may be treated as original, and hence either may be received as primary evidence.’ ”

Respondent submits that it was not necessary to make a prior demand upon Appellant for production of the original copy of the letter; but that in any event such a demand was made through the Interrogatories and at the time of trial, and that Appellant had adequate time to have searched its records to see if it had the original of the letter, the carbon copy of which was introduced in evidence.

#### POINT IV

ALLEGED ERROR OF THE COURT IN FAILING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO DISMISS AT THE END OF DEFENDANT’S CASE AND IN FAILING TO GRANT A MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT.

The general rule as to the review of the weight and sufficiency of the evidence where a full report of the evidence is not brought to the attention of the reviewing court is well stated in 4 *Am. Jur. 2d*, APPEAL AND ERROR, Sec. 523, p. 958, as follows:

“The weight and sufficiency of the evidence cannot ordinarily be reviewed unless all of the evidence is brought before the appellate court by a bill of exceptions or its equivalent.”

The cases cited under this statement include the case of *Sandall vs. Sandall*, 57 U. 150, 193 P 1093, 15 ALR 620, decided by this Court in 1920. As there stated by this Court, alleged error as to the insufficiency of the evidence will not be considered by the Court on appeal where the evidence is not reported to the Court, citing numerous Utah cases. The most recent case on this point is *In Re Voorhees Estate*, 12 U 2d 361, 366 P2d 977, where the Court held that since no transcript of the hearing was made and submitted to the Supreme Court the findings of the trial court would be assumed to be supported by the evidence.

This is in keeping also with the statement of law found in 4 *Am. Jur. 2d*, APPEAL AND ERROR, Section 523, p. 959, as follows :

“If the evidence is not in the record, the presumption is that it was sufficient to sustain the judgment, and that it supported all Findings of Fact and all facts pleaded and essential to the judgment. If only part of the evidence is in the record, the presumption is that the omitted evidence supports the judgment, and that it is sufficient to cure any defects in the evidence brought up.”

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